Notice of Meeting
Code of Conduct Panel
Councillors Allen, Gbadebo and Neil
Councillor Strudley – Parish Council Representative
Dr Louis Lee – Independent Member
Thursday 28 January 2021, 9.30 am
Online - via Zoom
Agenda
Item
1.

Description

Page

Election of Chairman
To elect a Chairman for the Panel meeting.

2.

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies of absence.

3.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected
interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting.
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days.
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest
to the meeting. There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the
meeting.

4.

Code of Conduct Panel Hearing Procedure

1-6

To conduct the Code of Conduct Panel Hearing in line with the procedure
5.

Exclusion of Public and Press

The Panel will determine whether the Public and Press should be excluded
from the meeting and whether any or all documents should be withheld as
agenda item 6 is supported by Annexes containing exempt information as
defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
If the Panel wishes to discuss the content of these annexes in detail, it may
choose to move the following resolution:
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately. Follow the green signs. Use the stairs
not the lifts. Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.

That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 and having regard
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the
meeting for the consideration of item 6 which involves the likely disclosure of
exempt information under the following category of Schedule 12A of the
Local Government Act 1972:
(1) Information relating to any individual.
If the Panel choose not to discuss the annexes in closed session, the
annexes relating to the Code of Conduct complaint will be published straight
away on the Bracknell Forest Council website and the Panel will continue in
public session.
6.

Code of Conduct Hearing Report

7 - 40

To determine a complaint against a Parish Councillor and consider the
Monitoring Officers report.
Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted. Please
contact Hannah Stevenson, 01344 354068, hannah.stevenson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so
that any special arrangements can be made.
Published: 20 January 2021

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately. Follow the green signs. Use the stairs
not the lifts. Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.

Agenda Item 4

BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL

Code of Conduct Panel
Hearing Procedure

November 2016

1

1.

Pre Hearing Procedure

1.1

In order to allow the hearing to proceed fairly and efficiently, the Monitoring
Officer may in appropriate cases use a pre -hearing procedure to:
a) Identify which facts in the investigation report are agreed and which are in
dispute;
b) Determine whether any fresh evidence not mentioned in the investigation
report may be put before the hearing;
c) Determine whether documentary evidence which a party wishes to put before
the hearing is admissible;
d) Establish whether the parties intend to attend; whether the parties intend to
be represented in accordance with paragraph 2 and, if so, by whom; and the
number and identity of witnesses to be called;
e) Determine whether the whole or any part of the hearing should be held in
private;
f)

Determine whether the whole or any part of the investigation report or other
relevant documents should be withheld from the public.

1.2

The Monitoring Officer will notify the parties of the date, time and place for the
hearing.

2.

Rules of procedure

2.1

The Code of Conduct Panel consists of the Members of the Governance and
Audit Committee.

2.2

The quorum for a meeting of the Hearing Panel is three voting members

2.3

The Independent Person’s views must be sought and taken into consideration
before the Code of Conduct Panel takes any decision on whether the Subject
Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct
and as to any sanction to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with
the Code of Conduct. The Independent Person should normally be present
throughout the hearing (but not during the deliberations of the Panel in
private) but in the event that this is not possible, may instead submit their
views on the complaint to the Panel in writing.

2.4

The legal requirements for publishing agendas, minutes and calling meetings,
will apply to the Code of Conduct Panel. The hearing will be held in public no
earlier than 14 working days after the Monitoring Officer has copied the
Investigating Officer’s final report to the complainant and the Subject Member.
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) will be applied to
exclude the public and press from meetings of the Code of Conduct Panel
where it is likely that confidential or exempt information will be disclosed.

2.5

All matters/issues before the Code of Conduct Panel will be decided by a
simple majority of votes cast, with the Chairman having a second or casting
vote.

2

2.7

Where the Subject Member fails to attend the Panel and where the Panel is
not satisfied with their explanation for their absence from the hearing, it may
in the first instance, have regard to any written representations submitted by
the Subject Member and may resolve to proceed with the hearing in the
Subject Member’s absence and make a determination or, if satisfied with the
Subject Member’s reasons for not attending the hearing, adjourn the hearing
to another date. The Panel may resolve in exceptional circumstances, that it
will proceed with the hearing on the basis that it is in the public interest to
hear the allegations expeditiously.

3.

Right to be accompanied by a representative

3.1

The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied and/or represented at
the Code of Conduct Panel by a fellow councillor, friend or colleague.

4.

The conduct of the hearing

4.1

Subject to paragraph 4.2 below, the order of business will be as follows:
(a)

elect a Chairman;

(b)

apologies for absence;

(c)

declarations of interests;

(d)

in the absence of the Subject Member, consideration as to whether to
adjourn or to proceed with the hearing

(e)

introduction by the Chairman, of members of the Panel, the
Independent Person, Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer, legal
advisor, complainant and the Subject Member and their presentative;

(f)

to receive representations from the Monitoring Officer and/or Subject
Member as to whether any part of the hearing should be held in
private and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof) should be
withheld from the public/press;

(g)

to determine whether the public/press are to be excluded from any
part of the meeting and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof)
should be withheld from the public/press.

4.2

The Chairman may exercise their discretion and amend the order of business,
where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the
effective and fair consideration of any matter.

4.3

The Code of Conduct Panel may adjourn the hearing at any time.

4.4

Presentation of the complaint
(a)

The Monitoring Officer, legal advisor or chairman may each make an
introductory statement outlining the nature of the complaint and the
purpose of the hearing, and the procedure to be followed.

3

4.5

4.6

4.

(b)

The Investigating Officer presents their report including any
documentary evidence or other material and calls their witnesses. No
new points will be permitted;

(c)

The Subject Member or their representative may question the
Investigating Officer and any witnesses called by the Investigating
Officer;

(d)

The Panel may question the Investigating Officer upon the content of
their report and any witnesses called by the Investigating Officer.

Presentation of the Subject Member’s case
(a)

The Subject Member or their representative presents their case and
calls their witnesses;

(b)

The Investigating Officer may question the Subject Member and any
witnesses called by the Subject Member;

(c)

The Panel may question the Subject Member and any witnesses
called by the Subject Member.

Summing up
(a)

The Investigating Officer sums up the complaint;

(b)

The Subject Member or their representative sums up their case.

Views/Submissions of the Independent Person
The Chairman will invite the Independent Person to express their view on
whether or not they consider that on the facts presented to the Panel, there
has been a breach of the Code of Conduct.

4.8

Deliberations of the Code of Conduct Panel
Deliberation in private

4.9

(a)

The Code of Conduct Panel will adjourn the hearing and deliberate in
private (assisted on matters of law by a legal advisor) to consider
whether or not, on the facts found, the Subject Member has failed to
comply with the Code of Conduct.

(b)

The Panel may at any time come out of private session and
reconvene the hearing in public, in order to seek additional evidence
from the Investigating Officer, the Subject Member or the witnesses. If
further information to assist the Panel cannot be presented, then the
Panel may adjourn the hearing and issue directions as to the
additional evidence required and from whom.

Announcing decision on facts found
(a)

The Code of Conduct Panel will reconvene the hearing in public and
the Chairman will announce whether or not on the facts found, the
Panel considers that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct

4

(b)

Where the Panel finds that there has been a breach of the Code of
Conduct, the Chairman will invite the Independent Person, the Subject
Member and the Monitoring Officer to make their representations as
to whether or not any sanctions should be applied and, if so, what
form they should take.

(c)

When deciding whether to apply one or more sanctions, the Panel will
ensure that the application of any sanction is reasonable and
proportionate to the Subject Member’s behaviour. The Panel will
consider the following questions along with any other relevant
circumstances or other factors specific to the local environment:












(d)

4.10

What was the Subject Member’s intention and did they know that they
were failing to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct?
Did the Subject Member receive advice from officers before the incident
and was that advice acted on in good faith?
Has there been a breach of trust?
Has there been financial impropriety, e.g. improper expense claims or
procedural irregularities?
What was the result/impact of failing to follow the Council’s Code of
Conduct?
How serious was the incident?
Does the Subject Member accept that they were at fault?
Did the Subject Member apologise to the relevant persons?
Has the Subject Member previously been reprimanded or warned for
similar misconduct?
Has the Subject Member previously breached of the Council’s Code of
Conduct?
Is there likely to be a repetition of the incident?
Having heard the representations of the Independent Person, the
Subject Member and the Monitoring Officer on the application of
sanctions, the Panel will adjourn and deliberate in private.

Formal Announcement of Decision
(a)

Where the complaint has a number of aspects, the Code of Conduct
Panel may reach a finding, apply a sanction and/or make a
recommendation on each aspect separately.

(b)

The Panel will make its decision on the balance of probabilities, based
on the evidence before it during the hearing.

(c)

Having taken into account the representations of the Independent
Person, the Subject Member and the Monitoring Officer’s on the
application of sanctions, the Panel will reconvene the hearing in public
and the Chairman will announce:



the Panel’s decision as to whether or not the Subject Member has
failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, and the principal
reasons for the decision;
the sanctions (if any) to be applied;

5



5.

the recommendations (if any) to be made to the Council or
Monitoring Officer;
that there is no right of appeal against the Panel’s decision and/or
recommendations.

Range of possible sanctions


The range of possible sanctions are as follows;










The Panel recommending that the Council issue a formal Censure
towards the Councillor/Co-opted member e.g. through a Motion at a
Council meeting
The Panel publishing its decision by issuing a press release
The Panel reporting findings to Council for inclusion on Council agenda
The Panel recommending to the Councillor’s group leader (or in the case
of “ungrouped” members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that
he/she be removed from any or all committees or sub-committees
The Panel recommending to the Leader of the Council that the Councillor
be removed from the Executive, or removed from particular portfolio
responsibilities
The Panel recommending that the Councillor be removed from any or all
outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or nominated
by the Leader of the Council
The Panel Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange appropriate
training
The Panel requiring the Councillor/Co-opted Member to issue a written
apology to the complainant in an open letter
The Panel referring the matter to the party whip in order that the Political
group may consider what action to take under its own procedures



The Code of Conduct Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the
Subject Member or to withdraw basic or special responsibility allowances.



The Panel may specify that any sanction take effect immediately or take
effect at a later date and that the sanction be time limited.

6

Agenda Item 6
To:

CODE OF CONDUCT PANEL
28 JANUARY 2021

Code of Conduct Panel Hearing
Executive Director of Delivery - Legal
1

Purpose of Report

1.1

The Code of Conduct Panel has responsibility for the determination of allegations
that a Member or Co-opted Member of the Borough Council (or Parish/Town Council)
has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors. A link to the
Code of Conduct as adopted by Crowthorne Parish Council can be found here. A link
to the Council’s Arrangements (“the arrangements”) for dealing with Code of Conduct
Complaints (also adopted by the Parish Council) can also be found here.

2

Recommendation(s)

2.1

The Hearing Panel is asked to consider and determine under the Arrangements a
complaint made against Cllr xxxx by xxxx, alleging breaches by Cllr xxxx of the
Members’ Code of Conduct. A link to a copy of the complaint (which was submitted
on 11 September 2020) can be found at Annex A.

2.2

The complaint set out that that Cllr xxxx had ‘breached the code of conduct: By
bringing the council or the office of councillor into disrepute, By bullying me and/or
others, By discriminating against me and/or others, By failing to treat me and/or
others with respect..’ and that he had displayed ‘aggressive, harassing and bullying
conduct towards [me] in written communications, meetings and in the wider public
realm….. Cllr xxxs behaviour has been witnessed by Members, Officers and the
public….. Informal attempts to resolve the situation have been unsuccessful as
several Cllrs …. had assured me they had spoken to Cllr xxxx to inform him that his
conduct towards me was unacceptable and must stop. Despite this, the situation has
continued and escalated to a point it is impacting my health and well-being.”

2.3

The complainant supported her complaint with a schedule of seven specific
incidents, dated between January and September 2020

3

Reasons for Recommendation(s)

3.1

To deliver an outcome pursuant to the xxxx Parish Council Code of Conduct and its
arrangements for dealing with allegations of Code breaches.

4

Alternative Options Considered

4.1

None. The Investigator has found that Cllr xxxx has breached the Code of Conduct
and efforts to achieve an informal resolution have not borne fruit.

5

Supporting Information

7

5.1

As provided for in the Arrangements the complaint was initially considered upon
receipt by the Monitoring Officer who was required to make one of three decisions:




Take no action
Seek to resolve the complaint informally
Refer the Complaint for investigation

5.2

Following consultation with the Independent Person, Dr Louis Lee, the complaint was
referred for investigation. Mr Richard Beaumont, a former Head of Service in
Bracknell Forest Council with over 40 years’ experience in the public sector was
appointed to undertake this task. During the investigation process Mr Beaumont
interviewed the complainant and Cllr xxxx .He also sought and obtained written
comments from them on their recollection of two incidents alleged by the
complainant, which had been refuted by Cllr xxxx.

5.3

Following completion of his investigation an investigation report was prepared by Mr
Beaumont. In accordance with the arrangements, both Cllr xxxx and the complainant
were given the opportunity to comment on the draft report prior to it being finalised. A
link to a copy of the final investigation report can be found at Annex B

5.4

Mr Beaumont found that there was a failure by Cllr xxxx to comply with the Members’
Code of Conduct on the following grounds;




5.5

Bringing the council or the office of councillor into disrepute (1 count)
Bullying me and/or others (6 counts)
Failing to treat me and/or others with respect. (6 counts)
His report which was shared with Cllr xxxx, the complainant and the Monitoring
Officer concluded with the following recommendations;
a) Councillor XXXX should make a written apology to the complainant,
acknowledging that his behaviour constituted bullying, promising to cease all
such behaviour and to abide by the Code of conduct in future, and undertake to
work with her in a spirit of respect and co-operation, for the benefit of the Council
and the residents of xxxx. The apology should be copied to the Parish Council
Chairman and the Monitoring Officer.
b) Councillor xxxx should receive refresher training on the Members code of
conduct, and specifically on the standards of behaviour required of councillors.
c) Councillor xxxx compliance with the Members code of conduct and the Equality &
Fair Treatment Policy, and his behaviour towards the complainant should be
formally monitored by the Chairman of the Parish Council and the Monitoring
Officer, at least quarterly and for a period of at least six months.
d) xxxx Parish Council should adopt a Member/Officer Protocol as soon as possible
and ensure that it is properly enforced.

5.6

The Monitoring Officer wrote to Cllr xxxx on 14 October to establish whether he
accepted the recommendations. In the absence of a response follow up emails were
sent on 27 October and 6 November. A response was received from Cllr xxxx
accepting recommendations b, c & d. However, Cllr xxxx only accepted a breach of
the Code in relation to one of the incidents cited in the complaint and indicated he
would present a written apology on that basis. A draft letter of apology was received
by the Monitoring Officer in such terms on 13 November which was rejected by the
Monitoring Officer on the grounds that it fell short of a full recognition of the findings.

8

The correspondence referred to in this paragraph, including a copy of the draft
apology can be found at Annex C

5.7

In the absence of an informal resolution the Monitoring Officer is referring the
complaint to the Code of Conduct Panel. The Panel is required to determine whether
Cllr xxxx has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take
any action in respect of Cllr xxxx. Sanctions available to the Panel in the event it
reaches a conclusion that Cllr xxxx failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, are set
out in Paragraph 9.1 of the Arrangements. They are as follows;










to report its findings to council for inclusion on a council agenda
to issue a press release with its findings
to instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange appropriate training
to require the councillor or co-opted member to issue a written apology to the
complainant in an open letter
to recommend that the council issues a formal censure (for example through a
motion at a council meeting)
to recommend to the relevant group leader (or in the case of ‘ungrouped’ councillors
or co-opted members, to recommend to council or to committees) that the councillor
or co-opted member is removed from any or all committees or sub-committees
to recommend to the Leader of the Council that the councillor is removed from the
Executive, or removed from particular portfolio responsibilities
to recommend that the councillor is removed from any or all outside appointments to
which he/she has been appointed or nominated by the Leader of the Council
to refer the matter to the party whip in order for the political group to consider
whether to take action under its own procedures
NB: The above sanctions are not mutually exclusive. A Panel has no power to
suspend or disqualify a Member or to withdraw a Member’s allowances.

Contact for further information
Sanjay Prashar - Borough Solicitor ;01344 355679
sanjay.prashar@bracknell-forest.gov.uk

9

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

11

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

13

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

23

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

35

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

37

This page is intentionally left blank

